### FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/11/2021 10:39 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/11/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99497-8

NO. 53194-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIE GARZA,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Kitty-Ann van Doorninck, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

# **

B.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 6
	The Court should grant review because use of the noncorroboration instruction in child sex abuse cases amounts to a comment on the evidence, in violation of article IV, section 16, and only this Court can overturn <u>Clayton</u> , which holds otherwise
E.	CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# WASHINGTON CASES

<u>In re Det. of R.W.</u> 98 Wn. App. 140, 988 P.2d 1034 (1999)9			
<u>Kirkland v. O'Connor</u> 40 Wn. App. 521, 698 P.2d 1128 (1985)9			
Laudermilk v. Carpenter 78 Wn.2d 92, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969)9			
<u>State v. Brush</u> 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015)7			
<u>State v. Chenoweth</u> 188 Wn. App. 521, 354 P.3d 13 (2015)			
<u>State v. Clayton</u> 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949)1, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10			
<u>State v. Faucett</u> 22 Wn. App. 869, 593 P.2d 559 (1979)9			
<u>State v. Jackman</u> 156 Wn.2d 736, 132 P.3d 136 (2006)6			
<u>State v. Jacobsen</u> 78 Wn.2d 491, 477 P.2d 1 (1970)6			
<u>State v. Lewis</u> 6 Wn. App. 38, 492 P.2d 1062 (1972)6			
<u>State v. Martinez</u> 196 Wn.2d 605, 476 P.3d 189 (2020)			
<u>State v. Mellis</u> 2 Wn. App. 859, 470 P.2d 558 (1970)9			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page

State v. Zimmerman
130 Wn. App. 170, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005)
review granted, cause remanded, 157 Wn.2d 1012 (2006)7, 8

# RULES, STATUTES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

11 WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 45.02 cmt. (4th ed. 2016)7			
RAP 13.4			
WASH. Const. art. IV, § 16 1, 6, 8, 9, 10			

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Willie Garza asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Garza</u>, No. 53194-1-II, filed February 2, 2021 (attached as an appendix).

#### B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Over defense objection, the trial court gave the following "noncorroboration" instruction at Garza's trial: "In order to convict a person of child molestation in the first degree, as defined in these instructions, it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated. The jury is to decide all questions of witness credibility." The jury thereafter convicted on two counts, hanging on a third, based solely on the complainant I.R.'s uncorroborated testimony.

The noncorroboration instruction has been repeatedly challenged as an unconstitutional comment on the evidence under article IV, section 16 of our state constitution. Lower courts and commentators have expressed serious concerns about the instruction. This Court has not passed upon the issue since 1949, in <u>State v. Clayton</u>, 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949). In March of 2020, this Court granted review of the issue in <u>State v. Svaleson</u>, No. 96034-8, but terminated review after Mr. Svaleson's death, without deciding the issue. Garza's case presents this Court another opportunity to decide this significant constitutional question once and for all, providing definitive guidance to lower courts and practitioners. Should this Court therefore grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Garza is 65 years old. RP 463; CP 142. He is a grandfather and provided regular childcare for his daughter's four children. RP 465, 468. I.R., born in 2005, is the oldest of the four siblings. RP 231-33. In 2017, I.R. reported suicidal ideations, claiming Garza had sexually abused her on three occasions and making unfounded accusations that her parents physically abused her. RP 303-04, 417, 457-59. The prosecution charged Garza with three counts of first degree child molestation and Garza proceeded to a jury trial. CP 96-97. The prosecution's case rested solely on I.R.'s testimony, with no corroborating evidence. Garza repeatedly denied any inappropriate touching. RP 343, 467-69.

**Count 1.** The first incident I.R. said occurred at Garza's Gig Harbor home (though Garza never lived in Gig Harbor). RP 247-49, 270-74, 334-35, 463-64. I.R. testified her aunt and cousins were visiting for the weekend and everyone was sleeping in the living room at Garza's house. RP 270. I.R. recalled being alone with Garza in his bedroom, with her pants and underwear removed. RP 270-71. She claimed she was lying down on Garza's bed while he kissed her body and touched her vagina with his hands. RP 271-72. Contrary to her trial testimony, I.R. said in a forensic interview and later in a defense interview that she had her underwear on and was standing up rather than lying down. RP 307-09. She also said the only touching occurred over her underwear. RP 307-09.

The State elected this "Gig Harbor" incident for Count 1. RP 541-42; CP 179-80. The jury could not reach a unanimous verdict. CP 131.

**Count 2.** The second incident I.R. said occurred sometime later, at a two-story town house where I.R. lived with her family. RP 257-59, 337. I.R. testified she was alone with Garza watching television on the couch. RP 275-76. I.R. claimed "then somehow I was on his lap, he was kissing me and he was touching me inside my shirt." RP 275. I.R. said Garza kissed her "[a]ll on my neck and on my face," and touched her "chest" underneath her shirt. RP 276-77.

The State elected this "town house" incident for Count 2. RP 544-45; CP 179, 181. The jury found Garza guilty on Count 2. CP 134.

**Count 3.** The third incident I.R. said occurred at Garza's Tacoma apartment, where he lived from 2012 to 2014. RP 279-81, 464-65. Garza had a computer in his bedroom, which his grandchildren were allowed to use, with a time limit. RP 469. I.R. recalled one time she was using Garza's computer, "and ended up sitting on his lap after that and then he started

putting his hands in my shirt." RP 280. She reiterated, "I was wearing a red shirt and he ended up having his hands underneath my shirt." RP 281. I.R. said she was not wearing a bra at the time because she was not old enough to wear one, but she did not say Garza touched her chest. RP 281. "That's all I remember," she explained. RP 280.

The State elected this "upstairs apartment" incident for Count 3. RP 545-46; CP 179, 182. The jury found Garza guilty on Count 3. CP 137.

The prosecution proposed the noncorroboration instruction. RP 438-39. Defense counsel objected to the instruction, stating "a lot of concerns with it." RP 440. Counsel argued the instruction overemphasized I.R.'s testimony and constituted an impermissible comment on the evidence as well as I.R.'s credibility. RP 440-42, 519-20. Over defense objection, the trial court gave the instruction, which told the jury that, in order to convict, "it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated." CP 106; RP 442.

On appeal, Garza challenged the sufficiency of the evidence on Count 3, arguing the prosecution failed to prove he had sexual contact with I.R., because I.R. did not describe where Garza touched her, only that it was under her shirt. Br. of Appellant, 9-10. Garza further argued the prosecution committed misconduct in closing argument by misstating the evidence on count 3, describing Garza as "kissing her in places that grandpas are not supposed to kiss their grandchildren, rubbing on her bare chest." RP 546. Of course, I.R. described no such conduct with regard to Count 3.

Garza subsequently requested leave to file a supplemental opening brief challenging the noncorroboration instruction, after this Court continued the same issue to its March 5, 2020 en banc conference in <u>State v. Svaleson</u>, No. 48855-8-II, 2018 WL 2437289 (May 30, 2018), <u>review granted</u>, 195 Wn.2d 1008 (2020). The court of appeals accepted Garza's supplemental brief. When this Court granted review in <u>Svaleson</u>, the court of appeals stayed Garza's appeal pending the outcome in <u>Svaleson</u>. But the stay was lifted after this Court terminated review in <u>Svaleson</u> without issuing a decision following Mr. Svaleson's death.

The court of appeals rejected Garza's sufficiency and misconduct challenges. Opinion, 9-13. As for the noncorroboration instruction, the court of appeals explained "[t]he Supreme Court last reviewed an instruction permitting the jury to convict a defendant of a sex offense on uncorroborated testimony in 1949, and it determined that there was no error in the instruction," citing <u>Clayton</u>. Opinion, 13. Despite misgivings expressed in other court of appeals decisions, the court in Garza's case recognized "[w]e are still bound by <u>Clayton</u> to hold that this noncorroboration instruction is constitutional." Opinion, 14. The court affirmed Garza's convictions. Opinion, 19.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court should grant review because use of the noncorroboration instruction in child sex abuse cases amounts to a comment on the evidence, in violation of article IV, section 16, and only this Court can overturn <u>Clayton</u>, which holds otherwise.

Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution commands: "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." This provision prohibits judges from making any statement that amounts to a "comment on the evidence." <u>State v. Jacobsen</u>, 78 Wn.2d 491, 495, 477 P.2d 1 (1970). It further prohibits judges from giving instructions that single out specific parts of one party's case or emphasize particular evidence. <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 6 Wn. App. 38, 41-42, 492 P.2d 1062 (1972). The provision likewise prohibits judges from conveying their personal attitudes about the merits of the case or instructing a jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law. <u>State v.</u> Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743-44, 132 P.3d 136 (2006).

This Court addressed the noncorroboration instruction in <u>Clayton</u>. Clayton was charged with "unlawful and felonious attempt to carnally know and abuse a female child, not his wife, of the age of fifteen years." 32 Wn.2d at 572. At trial, the jury was given the following instruction:

You are instructed that it is the law of this State that a person charged with attempting to carnally know a female child under the age of eighteen years may be convicted upon the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix alone. That is, the question is distinctly one for the jury, and if you believe from the evidence and are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendant, you will return a verdict of guilty, notwithstanding that there be no direct corroboration of her testimony as to the commission of the act.

<u>Id.</u> Clayton argued on appeal that the instruction was an impermissible comment on the evidence. <u>Id.</u> at 572-73. The court gave a cursory examination of the instruction, agreed with Clayton's concession that it was a correct recitation of the law, and upheld the instruction. <u>Id.</u>

This Court has not addressed the instruction since <u>Clayton</u> in 1949. Opinion, 13. Notably, however, the pattern criminal jury instructions (WPICs) do not include the noncorroboration instruction. <u>State v.</u> <u>Zimmerman</u>, 130 Wn. App. 170, 182, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005), review granted, <u>cause remanded</u>, 157 Wn.2d 1012 (2006). This Court's own committee responsible for drafting pattern instructions has explicitly recommended against such instruction, finding corroboration to really be a matter of sufficiency of the evidence, "best left to the argument of counsel." <u>Id.</u> (quoting 11 WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 45.02 cmt. (4th ed. 2016)); <u>see also State v. Brush</u>, 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015) (cautioning that jury instructions "should not be fashioned out of courts' findings regarding legal sufficiency").

-7-

The court of appeals has also expressed serious concern about the constitutionality of instructing jurors the testimony of one witness is "enough" to convict. In Zimmerman, Division Two noted it shared the WPIC Committee's misgivings about the instruction, but felt "bound by <u>Clayton</u> to hold that the giving of such an instruction is not reversible error." 130 Wn. App. at 182-83. Similarly, in Division One, Judge Becker concurred in a separate opinion to express her view that the instruction was unconstitutional: "If the use of the noncorroboration instruction were a matter of first impression, I would hold it is a comment on the evidence and reverse the conviction." <u>State v. Chenoweth</u>, 188 Wn. App. 521, 538, 354 P.3d 13 (2015) (Becker, J., concurring).

The court of appeals was absolutely correct that it remains bound by <u>Clayton</u>. Only this Court can stop its use. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because <u>Clayton</u> can no longer be squared with subsequent decisions by this Court and the court of appeals interpreting article IV, section 16. <u>See State v. Martinez</u>, 196 Wn.2d 605, 612, 476 P.3d 189 (2020) (recognizing this Court can overturn prior published opinions where an established rule is incorrect and harmful, or the legal underpinnings of the precedent have been eroded). Furthermore, this Court previously determined that continued use of the noncorroboration instruction warranted review—granting review in Svaleson before Mr. Svaleson passed away.

Since <u>Clayton</u>, this Court has held a trial judge impermissibly comments on the evidence by giving instructions that "underline" or "buttress" one party's theory of the case over the other. <u>Laudermilk v.</u> <u>Carpenter</u>, 78 Wn.2d 92, 101, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969) (denouncing these "once common" instructions). The court of appeals has also found violations of article IV, section 16 when a judge instructs the jury to give certain evidence "great weight" (<u>In re Det. of R.W.</u>, 98 Wn. App. 140, 144, 988 P.2d 1034 (1999)), to "be slow to believe that any witness has testified falsely" (<u>State v. Faucett</u>, 22 Wn. App. 869, 875, 593 P.2d 559 (1979)), that a rape charge is easily made and hard to disprove (<u>State v. Mellis</u>, 2 Wn. App. 859, 862, 470 P.2d 558 (1970)), and "not to draw any conclusions or inferences" from the absence of particular evidence (<u>Kirkland v. O'Connor</u>, 40 Wn. App. 521, 522, 698 P.2d 1128 (1985)).

Garza's case presents a clean record for this Court's review of the issue. Defense counsel timely objected to the noncorroboration instruction. The prosecution's case rested solely on I.R.'s uncorroborated claims, making the instruction particularly significant. The jury clearly harbored some doubt about I.R.'s accusations, being unable to reach a verdict on Count 1. And, on Count 3, I.R. failed to describe where Garza touched her, with further confusion potentially resulting from the prosecution's misstatement of the evidence on that count in closing argument. Garza's case is a classic

example of where the noncorroboration instruction is particularly useful to the prosecution and particularly harmful to the defense. This Court should answer whether, in light of over 70 years of case law interpreting article IV, section 16 since <u>Clayton</u>, the instruction remains constitutional.

#### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should grant review, reverse the court of appeals, and remand for a new trial at which Garza's jury is not given the noncorroboration instruction.

DATED this 10th day of February, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC

Mony T. M

MARY T. SWIFT WSBA No. 45668 Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Petitioner

# Appendix

Filed Washington State Court of Appeals Division Two

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

No. 53194-1-II

Respondent,

v.

WILLIE RODRIQUEZ GARZA,

Appellant.

#### UNPUBLISHED OPINION

GLASGOW, J.—Willie Rodriquez Garza appeals two convictions for first degree child molestation arising from incidents involving his granddaughter, IR. Garza also appeals the imposition of specific conditions of community custody.

Garza argues that the prosecutor's conceded misstatement of the evidence during closing argument was reversible misconduct and that there was insufficient evidence to support one of his convictions. Garza preserved a challenge to the noncorroboration jury instruction in the event the Washington Supreme Court reconsidered binding precedent on this issue. Garza also argues, and the State agrees, that four conditions of community custody were improperly imposed. Garza filed a statement of additional grounds for review (SAG) raising numerous additional issues.

We affirm Garza's convictions, and none of the issues raised in Garza's SAG merits reversal, but we remand for the trial court to strike the challenged conditions of community custody from Garza's judgment and sentence.

#### FACTS

#### I. BACKGROUND

Between the ages of roughly 5 and 11, IR regularly spent time with Garza, her biological grandfather. Sometimes IR's family lived with Garza, and Garza would frequently babysit IR and her younger siblings.

In 2015, when IR was 10 years old, she began to refuse to go to Garza's home. Eventually, IR told her mother that she did not feel comfortable visiting Garza because "'he [kept] putting his hands on [her] in ways that he shouldn't and . . . being inappropriate." 3 Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 285. IR's mother immediately cut off contact between Garza and her children.

In 2017, when IR was 12 years old, she went to see her school counselor and discussed feeling suicidal. IR told the school counselor that Garza had molested her. The counselor reported these allegations to the school resource officer, Child Protective Services, and IR's parents.

IR's parents then took her to Mary Bridge Children's Hospital, where she met with a social worker for a mental health evaluation, and IR told the social worker that her grandfather had molested her. The social worker reported these allegations to police.

During a forensic interview at the Children's Advocacy Center, IR described three instances of Garza inappropriately touching her. Detective Patricia Song observed this interview. Song then contacted Garza, interviewed him, and arrested him.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The parties stipulated that Garza's statements to Detective Song were given voluntarily and without coercion.

The State charged Garza with three counts of first degree child molestation based on three separate instances of inappropriate touching. The State accused Garza of using his position of trust to facilitate each count.

#### II. TRIAL

#### A. <u>IR's Testimony</u>

IR testified at trial. The first incident IR described, the basis for count I, happened early in the morning when the rest of her family was still asleep. IR testified, "[A]ll I remember was I was in his room. And my pants were on the floor, my underwear was off. He was touching me on my lower area." 3 VRP at 270. IR specified that at one point she was on Garza's bed, he was kissing her stomach and legs, and he was touching her legs, inner thighs, and vagina. IR recalled Garza hearing a noise and saying, "'Hurry up. Put your clothes on before your aunt or your mom comes and sees you.'" *Id*. Defense counsel cross-examined IR regarding inconsistent statements from prior interviews where she said that she was standing up with her underwear on. The State referred to this as the "Gig Harbor" incident. Suppl. Clerk's Papers (SCP) at 180.

The second incident IR described, the basis for count II, happened when she and Garza were the only two people at home. "I remember that we were sitting on the couch, there was nobody else home, the TV was on. And then somehow I was on his lap, he was kissing me and he was touching me inside my shirt." 3 VRP at 275. IR testified that her clothes were on, but Garza was kissing her neck and face and touching her chest underneath her shirt. She was not wearing a bra. The touching stopped when a neighbor knocked on the front door. The State referred to this as the "Town House" incident. SCP at 181.

The third incident IR described, the basis for count III, happened when she asked to use the computer in Garza's bedroom. She recalled "pictures of girls in their bikinis and models" near Garza's computer. 3 VRP at 279. IR told the jury, "I went in there and I asked him if I could go on the computer. And then what I remember is I ended up sitting on his lap after that and then he started putting his hands in my shirt." *Id.* IR testified that she "ended up just being on [Garza's] lap and then he ended up -- [she] was wearing a red shirt and he ended up having his hands underneath [her] shirt," but she could not recall details of what led up to that point. 3 VRP at 280. She testified that she was not wearing a bra. IR did not specifically testify that Garza touched her chest, nor did she testify that he kissed her during this incident. The touching stopped when IR's younger brother entered the room and asked her to play with Nerf guns. The State referred to this as the "Apartment Upstairs" incident. SCP at 182.

IR also testified that Garza would "constantly" touch her lower body from her waist down. 3 VRP at 281. IR did not describe a specific incident when this type of touching occurred and instead stated, "It happened a lot, like it was just a constant thing that would go on." 3 VRP at 282. Garza would touch her buttocks and inner thighs, "pinch [her] butt," and make "smart comments" to and about women that made IR uncomfortable. 3 VRP at 268. For example, Garza referenced the women pictured near his computer and told IR, "One day you'll end up growing to be like them, huh, and take pictures like that." 3 VRP at 268-69.

Garza testified and denied that any of the three incidents described above occurred.

#### B. Jury Instructions and Closing Argument

The jury was instructed on the elements of first degree child molestation, as well as the elements of the lesser included offense of fourth degree assault. The to convict instructions for the

three counts of first degree child molestation each explained that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that during the charging period, Garza had "sexual contact" with IR, "separate and distinct from the conduct alleged in [the other two counts];" that IR was less than 12 years old at the time and not married to Garza; that she was at least 36 months younger than Garza; and that the acts occurred in Washington. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 113, 118, 121. The trial court explained, "Sexual contact means any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party." CP at 110.

The jury was also instructed that "[i]n order to convict a person of child molestation in the first degree, . . . it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated. The jury is to decide all questions of witness credibility." CP at 106. Defense counsel objected to this instruction.

With regard to the lawyers' arguments, the trial court instructed the jury that "[t]he lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and the exhibits." CP at 102. The jury was told that they "must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence." *Id*.

The trial court also reminded the jury that "[a] separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count." CP at 105. This was elaborated on in a later instruction: "The State alleges that the defendant committed acts of Child Molestation on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant on any count, . . . one particular act of Child Molestation must be proved for that count beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree . . . which act has been proved." CP at 112.

In his closing argument, the prosecutor described closing as the State's "opportunity... to take the facts of the case and apply it to the law." 5 VRP at 537. He then reviewed the evidence in support of each count charged. However, he misstated IR's testimony in support of count III. The prosecutor identified "[t]he third incident that supports [c]ount III" and then described this incident by saying that when IR sat on Garza's lap, he "start[ed] rubbing up underneath her shirt, kissing her in places that grandpas are not supposed to kiss their grandchildren, rubbing on her bare chest, [and] that she wasn't wearing a bra, because she wasn't old enough to be wearing a bra." 5 VRP at 545-46. Defense counsel did not object to this misstatement.

The jury was hung on count I, and the State later moved to dismiss this charge without prejudice. The jury found Garza guilty of counts II and III. The jury further found that Garza used his position of trust to facilitate the commission of counts II and III.

#### III. SENTENCING

The trial court imposed a high end standard range minimum sentence of 89 months with a maximum of life and community custody for life.

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