# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/30/2021 1:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99497-8

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIE GARZA,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Court of Appeals

# **BRIEF OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

ANNE EGELER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB #20258 / OID #91121 Pierce County Prosecutor's Office 930 Tacoma Ave. S., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402-2171 (253) 798-7400 anne.egeler@piercecountywa.gov

# **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

### A. The Noncorroboration Instruction Was Plainly Permitted by the Washington Constitution and Well-Settled Case Law

The noncorroboration instruction given in this case was entirely consistent with longstanding caselaw from this Court and the Court of Appeals. It is well settled that a trial court may instruct the jury in a manner that accurately states the law, without inferring "the court's attitude toward the merits of the case" or disputed issue. *E.g., State v. Lane,* 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995); *State v. Clayton,* 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949). In this case, the defense was based on an appeal to pervasive stereotypes concerning sexual assault and rape. The trial court complied with this long-standing case law by providing a statement of the law, without compromising the constitutional rights of the defendant.

The trial court's ability to state the law for the jury is grounded in the Washington Constitution, which provides that "'[j]udges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, *but shall declare the law.*" *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995) (quoting Const. art. 4, § 16) (emphasis added). An instruction that does no more than convey an accurate statement of the law is not an impermissible comment on the evidence. *E.g., Christensen v. Munsen*, 123 Wn.2d 234, 249, 867 P.2d 626 (1994); *State v. Chenoweth*, 188 Wn. App. 521, 354 P.3d 12 (2015), *rev. denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1023, 361 P.3d 747 (2015).

The instruction provided in this case was without question an accurate statement of the law. RCW 9A.44.020(1) provides that "[i]n order to convict a person of any crime defined in this chapter it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated." *See* RCW 9A.44.083 (defining child molestation in the first degree). The instruction provided in Garza's trial hewed closely to the statutory language by stating that: "[i]n order to convict a person of child molestation in the first degree, . . . it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated." CP 106.

Longstanding case law indicates that a statement of the law regarding uncorroborated testimony is permissible when there is no comment or inference made by the trial court regarding the facts. *State v. Clayton*, 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949). A comment on the facts exists only if the court's attitude is "reasonably inferable from the nature or manner of the court's statements." *State v. Elmore*, 139 Wn.2d 250, 276, 985 P.2d 289 (1999) (quoting *State v. Carothers*, 84 Wn.2d 256, 267, 525 P.2d 731 (1974)). Conversely, a "[a] jury instruction is not an impermissible comment on the evidence when sufficient evidence supports it and the instruction is an accurate statement of the law." *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn.

App. 924, 935, 219 P.3d 958 (2009) (citing *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 193, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)); *State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wn. App. 170, 182-83, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005). Here, as in *Clayton*, the trial court properly stated the law without further comment.

In addition to taking care to not comment or provide any inference regarding the evidence, the trial court took the proactive step of instructing the jury that it is the sole judge of credibility. CP 106. Division I of the Court of Appeals has suggested that "[w]ithout this specific inclusion, the instruction stating that no corroboration is required may be an impermissible comment on the alleged victim's credibility." Johnson, 106 Wn. App. at 936-37. In Garza's case, the trial court removed any possible inference that the judge was commenting on the evidence by affirmatively stating that "the jury is to decide all questions of witness credibility" and that the jury "must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by evidence." CP 102, 106; see also CP 102, Jury Instr. 1 (directing jurors that they "are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness" and "the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness," and that the state constitution "prohibits a trial judge from making a comment on the evidence.").

Given this consistent body of case law, Garza attempts to manufacture a conflict by citing cases in which the trial court directly commented—or was asked to directly comment—on the evidence. *See* Pet. at 9. For example, in *Laudermilk v. Carpenter*, 78 Wn.2d 92, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969), the plaintiff in a negligence case involving a young child who was allowed to start a trash fire asked for jury instructions that comment on the evidence, such as: "[a]s a matter of common knowledge, fire is considered to be an inherently dangerous activity" and that "young children . . . are without discretion or judgement . . . further, that they are creatures of impulse and impetuosity, having no habits of deliberation and forethought, and are likely to be drawn by childish curiosity into places of danger." *Id.* at 99-100. The Court held that the trial court properly declined to provide these instructions, "which might subject the trial judge to the charge of commenting on the evidence." *Id.* at 100. Unlike the overtly biased, factual commentary requested in *Laudermilk*, the instruction given in Garza's trial was a neutral statement of the law.

Garza's remaining claims of conflicting case law are equally specious. *See* Pet. at 9. He makes a passing citation to *In re Detention of R.W.*, 98 Wn. App. 140, 144, 988 P.2d 1034 (1999), which held that a jury instruction violated article IV, section 16 because it was a statement of legislative intent—rather than a statement of substantive law. *Id.* at 145-46. But in Garza's case, the instruction mirrored the text of RCW 9A.44.020(1). The remaining citations are also inapposite. In *State v. Faucett*, 22 Wn. App. 869, 875, 593 P.2d 559 (1979), the trial court openly commented on the weight of testimony by instructing the jury that it must "be slow to believe that any witness has testified falsely," thereby reducing the likelihood that the jury would find a reasonable doubt. Similarly, in *Kirkland v. O'Connor*, 40 Wn. App. 521, 523-524, 698 P.2d 1128 (1985), a jury instruction that "prohibited the jury from considering a lack of evidence about a material element" of an intoxication charge was determined to be a comment on the evidence. Finally, in *State v. Mellis*, 2 Wn. App. 859, 861-62, 470 P.2d 558 (1970), the Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly refused a request to comment on the credibility of an alleged rape victim's testimony by instructing the jury that "consent . . . may be inferred if there has been no outcry and no serious resistance."

In sum, Garza's constitutional argument fails. It is well settled that an accurate statement of the law, without any comment regarding the facts, is constitutionally permissible. In essence, the petition requests that the Court accept this case to overturn over 70 years of case law, recognizing that the Washington Constitution allows the trial court to state the law. The petition should therefore be denied.

# B. A Noncorroboration Instruction Is an Important Means of Insuring that Prevalent "Rape Myths" Do Not Bias Jurors in Sexual Assault Trials

Garza's reliance on a comment to a pattern jury instruction (WPIC) is insufficient to raise an issue warranting this Court's review. *See* Pet. at 7 (citing 11 Wash. Practice: Wash. Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 45.02 cmt. (4th ed. 2016)). The comment recognizes that "[s]ince 1913 the law of Washington has followed the common law rule that no corroboration is necessary" in a rape case, but suggests that "[t]he matter of corroboration is really a matter of sufficiency of the evidence." WPIC 45.02. The comment is at best a secondary source of information, not a conflicting authority meriting review under RAP 13.4(b).

It is also important to note that the comment to the WPIC is devoid of context. It does not comment on whether a noncorroboration instruction is ever necessary to counteract "rape myths"—institutionalized falsehoods regarding victims of sexual assault. Tyler J. Buller, *Fighting Rape Culture with Noncorroboration Instructions*, 53 Tulsa L. Rev. 1 (2017) (hereinafter *"Fighting Rape Culture"*). Between a quarter and a third of Americans believe such myths. *Id.* at 4. In Garza's case, the record indicates that the defense relied in large part on fanning these misconceptions, particularly the myth that there are always witnesses to sexual assault. In reality, over 78 percent of rape cases lack a third-party witness and sexual abuse of children is sometimes committed "with adults in close proximity who are unable to detect the abuse due to deception by the offender." *Id.* at n. 27 (citing Joseph Peterson et al., *The Role and Impact of Forensic Evidence in the Criminal Justice Process*, 62, 92, 109 (2010)). Although every State has addressed this longstanding bias by removing the corroboration requirement, the myth lives on. *See, e.g.*, RCW 9A.44.020; Richard Klein, *An Analysis of Thirty-Five Years of Rape Reform: A Frustrating Search for Fundamental Fairness*, 41 Akron L. Rev. 981, 986-87 (2008).

In closing argument, the defense further employed the myth that "real" sexual assaults are witnessed by emphasizing that the child victim's testimony was "unsubstantiated" by other witnesses and asked the jury: "Are unsubstantiated allegations made by someone with these types of problems, is that all it takes these days to convict someone of a serious crime like this?" *E.g.*, 565, 568. The defense reinforced the argument that unsubstantiated claims of sexual abuse cannot be trusted by making use of a second myth: that credible claims of sexual assault are also supported by corroborating *physical* evidence. *Fighting Rape Culture* at 5. During cross examination of the investigating detective, the defense asked the investigating detective about rape kits, the "ability to get children who have made allegations of sexual assault checked out medically," and the absence of a rape kit in this case. RP 435-36. But contrary to the prevalent myth that

sexual assaults result in physical injuries, research shows that "the number of sexual assaults that result in any form of injuries is as low as ten percent." *Fighting Rape Culture* at 5. Physical evidence is particularly uncommon in child molestation cases, because "most of these crimes involve fondling or oral sex rather than forcible penetration." *Id.* 

Like Washington, other States also have held that a noncorroboration instruction that merely states the law does not constitute an improper comment on the evidence. Because jurors in sexual assault cases "mistakenly assume that they cannot base their decision on the victim's testimony even if it establishes every material element of the crime," the Nevada Supreme Court held that it is appropriate for the trial court to provide a noncorroboration instruction. Gaxiola v. State, 119 P.3d 1225, 1233 (Nev. 2005). As the California Supreme Court explained, "[a]lthough the historical imbalance between victim and accused in sexual assault prosecutions has been partially redressed in recent years there remains a continuing vitality in instructing juries that there is no legal requirement of corroboration." People v. Gammage, 828 P.2d 682, 687 (Cal. 1992) (citation omitted). The reasonable doubt standard puts a "heavy burden of persuasion on a complaining witness whose testimony is uncorroborated" and while a noncorroboration instruction does not lessen that standard, it "protects the rights of both the defendant and the complaining witness." *Id.* at 701 (citation omitted). *See also, e.g., Horne v. State*, 586 S.E.2d 13, 16 (Ga. 2003); *People v. Smith*, 385 N.W.2d 654, 657 (Mich. Ct. App. 1986).

As Washington's case law confirms, our state constitution also permits a noncorroboration instruction, particularly when it is paired with an instruction that the jury alone is responsible for determining witness credibility. Thus, there is no issue presented by the petition that necessitates this Court's review.

## V. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied. The Court of Appeals decision upholding the noncorroboration instruction is consistent article 4, section 16 of the Washington Constitution and Washington case law interpreting that provision.